1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2 No. 83451

3
4 **JACK LEAL,**

5
6 Appellant,

7 vs.

8 **THE STATE OF NEVADA,**

9
10 Respondent.

11
12 **Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Post-Conviction Denial of**
13 **Relief for Writ of Habeas Corpus - Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark**
14 **County The Honorable Judge Michael P. Villani 8th Judicial District**
15 **Court Judge Department 17, Presiding, Order Dismissing Petition for**
16 **Writ of Habeas Corpus Issued September 6, 2021**
17 **District Court Case No. A-20-814369-W**

18 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

19
20 DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ.
21 Lowe Law, L.L.C.
22 7350 West Centennial Pkwy #3085

October 6, 2021

s/ Diane C. Lowe
 DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ.
 LOWE LAW, LLC
 7350 West Centennial Pkwy #3085
 Las Vegas, NV 89131
 (725) 212-2451
 Attorney for Appellant

1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2 _____

3 JACK LEAL,) No. 83451
4)
5 Appellant,)
6)
7 vs.)
8 STATE OF NEVADA,)
9 Respondent.)
10 _____)

11
12 **APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF**

13
14 **I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

15
16 This Court has Jurisdiction over an appeal from the denial of post-conviction
17 relief for a plea agreement under N.R.S. 34.575(1).
18

19 This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of
20 habeas corpus in Jack Leal vs. Warden, William Hutchings of Southern
21 Desert State Prison, Civil Case No. A-20-814369-W. 2AA434-443. The
22 judgment of conviction was filed initially on August 23, 2017. 1AA142-143.
23

24 An amended judgment of conviction filed May 9, 2019, for the companion
25 criminal case C-17-322664-2. 1AA233-234. The trial court denied post-
26 conviction relief initially orally at the hearing on the briefings August 27,
27
28

1 2021. 2AA428-430. The Notice of Entry of Order of Dismissal was filed
2 and served by Odyssey eServe September 9, 2021. 2AA434-443. A timely
3 amended notice of appeal was filed on September 10, 2021. 2AA444-446.
4

5 **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

6
7 This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Court of Appeals
8 because it relates to a post-conviction Petition for a guilty plea
9 NRAP17(b)(1) to a Category B felony. NRAP 17(b)(3).
10

11 **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 12
13
14
15 1. The District Court erred in determining Mr. Leal's Writ of Habeas Corpus
16 Action was not timely per NRS 34.726 and Nevada Caselaw.
- 17
18 2. The District Court erred in determining the Writ of Habeas Corpus
19 Petition, Addition and Supplements are Procedurally Defaulted as Successive
20 per NRS 34.810.(2) and (3) and should not be considered on the merits.
- 21
22 3. The District Court Erred in Not Allowing Plea Withdrawal.
- 23
24 4. The District Court erred in not finding ineffectiveness of counsel as to the
25 sentencing of Mr. Leal, including the failure to present mitigating factors and
26 to prepare properly ensuring readiness and if not ready to proceed; to fight to
27 have continuances granted until the necessary actions were completed to pay
28 the liens. This led to prejudice and manifest injustice.
5. The District Court erred in not granting an evidentiary hearing.

1
2 **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**
3

4 On September 30, 2016, the State filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court a
5 complaint for forfeiture against, inter alia, property located at 1024 Santa
6 Helena Avenue, Henderson, NV 89001 case A-16-744347-C. 1AA1-9. The
7 request for forfeiture was based on the allegation that the home constituted
8 the proceeds of fraudulent real estate transactions. 1AA10-11.
9

10
11 Mr. LEAL was summoned and charged November 29, 2016, with his wife
12 JESSICA GARCIA and their company PARCELNOMICS, LLC (d/b/a
13 Investment Deals) under three cases at the Las Vegas Justice Court for 14
14 felony B criminal charges: 1 Racketeering, 12 theft, and 1 Multiple
15 transactions involving fraud or deceit in course of enterprise or occupation.
16
17

18 Justice Court Case 16F19220B (Jack Leal), 16F19220A (Parcelnomics,
19 LLC), 16F19220C (Jessica Garcia). 1AA12-42. Thirteen people claimed
20 they sold them houses and did not comply with disclosure requirements to
21 alert them about liens on the properties, defrauding them of a combined
22 amount of \$757,420.00 between March 1, 2015, and March 31, 2016.
23
24 1AA19-42. On December 27, 2016, Attorney Jason G. Weiner confirmed as
25 counsel for both defendants. 1AA43. An Amended Criminal Complaint was
26 also filed. 1AA44-66. On April 11, 2017, Jack Leal unconditionally waived
27
28

1 his right to a preliminary hearing and the Justice Court cases were closed and
2 bound over to District Court. 1AA74-75. Submitted the same day were forms
3 signed and sworn to by Mr. Leal waiving his preliminary hearing and any
4 conflict of interest caused by his attorney Mr. Weiner representing both he
5 and his wife Jessica Garcia. 1AA76-77.
6
7
8

9 An Information was issued April 18, 2017. 1AA90-93. There was a brief
10 hearing on April 20, 2017, wherein the conflict waivers of dual representation
11 was touched on briefly and the matter was continued to the next week.
12 1AA79-81. On April 24, 2017, Mr. Leal entered a guilty plea agreement to
13 Count 14 – Multiple transactions involving fraud or deceit in course of
14 enterprise or occupation with all the other counts being incorporated into
15 Count 14. Jack Leal signed Plea Form is found in the appendices. 1AA82-
16 87. Signed Certificate of Defense Counsel. 1AA88-89. Exhibit 1
17 Information 4/18/17 1AA91-93. Leal Signed and additional Conflict of
18 Interest Waiver dated 04/20/2017. 1AA94-96. Codefendant Jessica Garcia
19 Signed Guilty Plea Agreement. 1AA97-102. Signed Certificate of Defense
20 Counsel. 1AA103-107. Plea Hearing Transcript: 1AA108-117. Hearing
21 Minutes 1AA118. The PSI had recommended a sentence of a minimum of 24
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 months incarceration and a maximum sentence of 120 months with \$757,420
2 restitution jointly and severally with the co-defendant. Page 10. 2AA374.

3
4 He was sentenced on August 17, 2017, to a minimum initial incarceration
5 time of 72 months and a maximum of 180 months (6 years – 15 years) with 0
6 credit for time served and ordered to pay restitution to the thirteen people
7 defrauded. 1AA119-141. The Judgment of Conviction (Plea of Guilty) for
8 Jack Leal was filed August 23, 2017. 1AA142-143. Jessica Leal did not
9 show up to this sentencing hearing though she was supposed to be there.
10 1AA129, 217. An Amended Judgment of Conviction for Mr. Leal was
11 entered May 9, 2019, by the Court which corrected the original judgment of
12 conviction by adding the oral order given at the sentencing hearing and on the
13 plea agreement of restitution ‘jointly and severally’. 1AA233-234

18 **Actions After Conviction**

19 Before this current appeal, two appeals had been filed by Mr. Leal. The first
20 was direct appeal 74050. A Notice of Appeal was filed by Attorney Craig A.
21 Mueller on September 14, 2017. 1AA145-146. After that, attorney Lester
22 M. Paredes III took over and submitted the opening brief. 1AA155-176.

25 The Issues Raised in Opening Brief: 1AA157

- 26 1. Did the District Court Err by Failing to Hold an Evidentiary
27 Hearing or Inquire into the Nature and Materiality of the alleged
28 breach of the guilty plea agreement?

1 2. Did the District Court Err by denying appellant's motion to
2 withdraw counsel due to an unwaiveable concurrent conflict of
3 interest?

4 They lost. 1AA192-194. A Remittitur was filed January 17, 2019. 1AA197.

5 A writ of habeas corpus petition was filed March 21, 2019. 1AA200-211.

6 The issues raised in the initial Petition which was typed and prepared by
7

8 Attorney Gerstein were:

9 A. Mr. Leal's Conviction and Sentence are Invalid under the 6th
10 and 14th Federal Constitutional amendment guarantees of due
11 process and equal protection and under the law of article 1 of the
12 Nevada Constitution because the Original Information failed to
13 put the petitioner on notice of the charges. 1AA205.

14 B. Mr. Leal's conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th and 14th
15 Federal Constitutional Amendment guarantees of due process and
16 equal protection and under the law of article 1 of the Nevada
17 Constitution because prior counsel's performance fell below an
18 objective standard of reasonableness as is mandated by Strickland, 466
19 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). 1AA207.

20 1) Petitioner's criminal counsel's assistance was
21 ineffective, because prior counsel's performance fell
22 below an objective standard of reasonableness as
23 mandated by Strickland, by failing to obtain a conflict
24 waiver; 1AA208.

25 2) Petitioner's criminal counsel's assistance was
26 ineffective, because prior counsel's performance fell
27 below an objective standard of reasonableness as is
28 mandated by Strickland, by coercing petitioner into
entering a plea. 1AA210.

After briefing and an evidentiary hearing the Petition was denied June 19,

2019 by Judge Michael P. Villani. 1AA235-238. Attorney Gerstein filed the

1 preliminary appeal documents July 19, 2019, challenging Judge Villani's
2 ruling. 2AA243-244. Mr. Leal filed an Informal Brief December 30, 2019.
3 2AA245-253. But relief was denied October 9, 2020. 2AA288-291.
4 Remittitur was filed January 27, 2021. 2AA326-327. On April 28, 2020,
5 Attorney Jean J Schwartzer filed a second Writ of Habeas Corpus Petition in
6 order to try to preserve timeliness. 2AA254-261.
7

8
9 The Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed May 9, 2019. 1AA233-234.
10 The original judgment of conviction was filed August 23, 2017. 1AA142-
11 143.
12

13 In it she raises the following issues: 2AA260.
14

15 1 Based upon information and belief, Petitioner received
16 ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his right
17 to counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the
18 Constitution of the United States of America and Article
19 1 of the Nevada Constitution due to trial counsel's
20 failure to present mitigation factors at sentencing,
21 including but not limited to the inability of Petitioner to
22 pay the restitution prior to sentencing due to
23 document(s) being records on the property located at
24 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson Nevada 89002
25 at the mandate of the Attorney General, thereby making
26 it difficult to sell.

27 2 Based upon information and belief, Petitioner received
28 ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his right
to counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the
Constitution of the United States of America and Article
1 of the Nevada Constitution due to trial counsel's
failure to go over or correct Petitioner's Presentence
Investigation Report prior to sentencing.

3 Based upon information and belief, Petitioner received

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his right to counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America and Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution due to trial counsel's failure to correct and/or explain errors in Petitioner's criminal history and nature of the instant offense. 2 PA 155 (pdf 20).

4 Petitioner requests an evidentiary hearing pursuant to NRS 34.770.

On May 27, 2020, Mr. Leal filed a handwritten Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus supplementing the previous one filed by Ms. Schwartz. 2AA262-273. 2AA420 line 9-13

Ground 1: Challenge to validity of guilty plea. 2AA268.

Supporting Facts: My plea was involuntary as I was coerced and it was not entered into of my own free will. My plea was entered into without the effective assistance of counsel as there was a clear actual conflict of interest between both Defendants who were being represented by the same attorney. Jason Weiner began representing both Defendants but seems to have only had meaningful conversations with Garcia and not Leal. Both co-defendants were unable to be properly represented due to no contact orders stemming from domestic violence issues related to this criminal case. Since almost all communications were done solely with only Garcia as she was the one to retain and pay for Weiner's services, Leal simply was not involved in discussions regarding the case and had I had independent counsel to discuss with would have been able to proceed to trial.

I believe I am actually innocent as each victim signed a purchase agreement to purchase the properties which clearly stated that the properties were being sold "subject to liens and encumbrances and believe that a trial would show my innocence."

1 My plea was also entered without any meaningful
2 representation. (See: Ground Two).

3
4 Ground 2: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Jason Weiner – Trial Counsel 2
5 2AA269.

6 Supporting Facts: Weiner failed to disclose the court of the
7 Civil Forfeiture case which was filed by the A.G. and had a
8 direct impact on my ability to pay any restitution as it caused a
9 Lis Pendens to be placed against a home which was to be sold to
10 pay restitution. Instead the A.G. argued that there was nothing
11 done to pay anybody back but that was simply not the case –
12 Weiner did not disclose to the court the fact that this was a
13 “package plea deal” which should have resulted in a more
14 thorough plea canvass which would have prevented the issues in
15 Ground One.

16 Weiner did not present the jurisdictional issues relating to the
17 fact that certain properties were located and sold in Florida with
18 Nevada having no jurisdiction for these sales.

19 Weiner represented both co-defendants from the period of
20 December 2016 through April 9 2017 with no conflict of interest
21 waiver in place at all while the co-defendants were involved in
22 several actual conflicts (See Ground One).

23 Weiner did not dispute or challenge a insufficient charging
24 document which made my plea unknowingly entered. The
25 Information by which I was charged does not put me on notice
26 of the charges as it does not contain each and every element of
27 the crime charged or the facts showing how I allegedly
28 committed the acts. It is not clear and concise and therefore a
29 Defendant cannot plea to charges which do not constitute a
30 crime.

31 Due to all of the above, counsel’s assistance was clearly
32 ineffective and in violation of my constitutional rights to
33 effective counsel.

1 Ground Three: Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Craig A. Mueller and
2 Lester M. Paredes – Appellate Counsel. 2AA270.

3
4 Supporting Facts: I was never provided a copy of my pre-
5 sentence investigation report (P.S.I.) prior to being sentenced as
6 required by N.R.S. 176.153.

7 This is a due process violation as information in his PSI was
8 presumably used against him at sentencing and is still being used
9 against him by N.D.O.C. for purposes of classification. This
10 non-disclosure affects the Petitioner’s rights and ability to
11 challenge and dispute incorrect information as per Nevada Law,
12 the only opportunity to do so is at sentencing. Petitioner will
13 also be prejudiced moving forward as the Nevada Parole Board
14 has stated that the P.S.I. is the primary document used to
15 determine eventual release. Just a few errors from my PSI are:
16 My offense date is listed as being over a period of 1 year when it
17 was a period of approximately 90 days. Under “Offense
18 Synopsis” there are 7 paragraphs which I do not know what they
19 relate to. This information appears to have come directly from
20 the A.G.’s office and was never provided to me. It also does not
21 list my actual limited involvement and instead refers to “an
22 individual” in 12 separate paragraphs. The referenced
23 “individual” is not me but it is implied that it was me and a
24 reader without knowing this could surely not make this
25 distinction.

26 Appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising this issue as it
27 was error that was on the record and therefore appealable.

28
29 On August 12 2020 Michael J Bongard, Senior Deputy Attorney General
30 submitted an Answer to the Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas
31 Corpus. 2AA274-287. On October 28, 2020, Attorney Schwartzer filed a
32 Motion to Modify Sentence on behalf of Jack Leal. 2AA292-301.

1 And on November 9, 2020, Michael Kovac Chief Deputy Attorney General
 2 filed ‘State’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Modify Sentence.’
 3 2AA302-309. The Motion to Modify was Denied without Prejudice
 4
 5 November 17, 2020. 2AA318.

6
 7 The issues raised for the four prior actions include:

<p>8 Grounds Raised for 9 the 4 actions after 10 conviction prior to 11 this appeal 12 13 [Not including the 14 Motion to Modify 15 Sentence submitted 16 10/28/2020 17 2AA292-301 and 18 the most recent 19 Writ of Mandamus 20 action filed 21 September 2, 2021, 22 District Court case 23 A-21-840493-W]</p>	<p>ACTION 1 Direct Appeal 74050 Filed 9/14/17 1AA145-146 Brief: 1AA155-176 09/11/2018 Order Denying Relief: 1AAA192- 194 Remittitur issued 1/17/19</p>	<p>ACTION 2 First Writ of Habeas Corpus C-17-322664- 2 Started 3/21/2019 1AA200-211 Denied after briefing and argument on briefing hearing 6/19/19 1AA235-238</p>	<p>ACTION 3 1st Writ appeal Appeal 79243 Filed 7/19/19 2AA243-244 Court of Appeals Order Denying Relief 2AA288-291 Remittitur was filed 1/27/21 2AA326-327</p>	<p>ACTION 4 2nd / current writ of Habeas Corpus A-20-814 369-W filed 4/28/20 2AA254-261 5/27/20 2AA262-273 12/08/2020 2AA319-324 District Court Order 2AA434-443 Subject of this appeal 83451</p>
---	---	---	---	---

<p>23 Unknowing 24 involuntary 25 unintelligent plea – 26 ineffective 27 Assistance of 28 Counsel in plea</p>		<p>[But see 1AA224 line 20 - “There was nothing in the original petition that talked about the fact that while raising that claim there</p>		<p>Ground 1 2AA268</p>
--	--	--	--	-------------------------------------

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

		was somehow a knowing and an unintelligent or involuntary [phonetic plea.] Atty Gersten new issues]		
Failure to hold Evidentiary Hearing on breach of plea agreement re if restitution paid in advance would recommend or not object to probation	Ground 1AA157			Ground 2 2AA269
Denying appellant’s motion to withdraw counsel due to an unwaiveable concurrent conflict of interest	Ground 2 1AA157			Ground 2 2AA269
Original Information failed to put the petitioner on notice of the charges.		Point A 1AA205	2AA249-250	Ground 2 2AA269
Conflict – waiver due to representation same attorney for the 2 codefendants Petitioner’s criminal counsel’s assistance was ineffective, by <u>failing to obtain a conflict waiver</u> ;		Point B 1 1AA208	2AA250	
Coercion Petitioner’s		Point B 2 1AA210	2AA251-252	Point 1 2AA260

1	criminal counsel's			2AA320
2	assistance was			
3	ineffective, because			
4	prior counsel's			
5	performance fell			
6	below an objective			
7	standard of			
8	reasonableness as is			
9	mandated by			
10	<u>Strickland</u> , by			
11	<u>coercing petitioner</u>			
12	<u>into entering a plea.</u>			
13				
14	Trial counsel's			Point 1
15	failure to present			2AA260
16	mitigation factors			
17	at sentencing,			
18	including but not			
19	limited to the			
20	inability of			
21	Petitioner to pay			
22	the restitution prior			
23	to sentencing due to			
24	document(s) being			
25	records on the			
26	property located at			
27	1024 Santa Helena			
28	Avenue, Henderson			
	Nevada 89002 at			
	the mandate of the			
	Attorney General,			
	thereby making it			
	difficult to sell.			
	PSI			Ground 3
				2AA270
	Due to trial			Point 2
	counsel's failure to			2AA260
	go over or correct			
	Petitioner's			
	Presentence			

1	Investigation			
2	Report prior to			
3	sentencing.			
4	Due to trial			Point 3
5	counsel's failure to			2AA260
6	correct and/or			
7	explain errors in			
8	Petitioner's			
9	criminal history			
10	and nature of the			
11	instant offense.			
12	Petitioner requests			Point 4
13	an evidentiary			2AA260
14	hearing pursuant to			
15	NRS 34.770.			
16				

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

2AA369 PSI Synopsis. The Offense Synopsis is identical in the PSI of both defendants Jack Leal and Jessica Garcia. Also identical are the Sentencing Recommendations found on page 10 of the PSI. Mr. Leal's full PSI has been filed under seal with the Nevada Supreme Court. Ms. Garcia's report, which was forwarded with trial counsel's casefile to this attorney, was redacted significantly and included in the appendix for a limited purpose.

PSI OFFENSE SYNOPSIS 2AA369

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