IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Feb 02 2022 04:17 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

JACK LEAL,

Appellant,

Case No. 83451

(Clark County)

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD Attorney General MICHAEL J. BONGARD (Bar No. 7997) Senior Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General 1539 Avenue F, Suite 2 Ely, Nevada 89301 (775) 289-1632 (phone) (775) 289-1653 (fax) mbongard@ag.nv.gov

Attorneys for Respondent

DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ LOWE LAW, LLC

District Court No. 8th JD A-20-814369-W

7350 W. Centennial Pkwy #3085 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (725) 212-2451

Attorney for Appellant

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

Party	Restitution Owed
LoryLee Plancarte	\$70,000.00
Edelyn Rudin	\$75,000.00
Chatty Becker	\$37,000.00
Irene Segura	\$57,500.00
Liih-Ling Yang	\$98.620.00
Lina Palafox	\$90,300.00
Adilson Gibellato	\$85,000.00
Juan Eloy Ramirez	\$50,000.00

Catherine Wyngarden	\$115,000.00
Shahram Bozorgina	\$25,000.00
Tat Lam	\$53,500.00

See, 1 AA 143.

It is clear that Leal's Judgment of Conviction constituted a final judgment of conviction. That document set forth with specificity the terms of the restitution, as well as the "amount of restitution for each victim of the offense." *See, Witter v. State*, 135 Nev. 412, 414, 452 P.3d 406, 408 (2019) (citing to NRS 176.105(1)(c) and NRS 176.033(1)(c)). In *Whitehead*, the Court found that a judgment that imposes restitution but does not specify the terms is not a final judgment. 128 Nev. at 263, 285 P.3d at 1055.

The August 2017 judgment sets forth the terms and the amount of restitution, complying with the provisions of NRS 176.105(1)(c). The district court correctly found the August 2017 judgment of conviction constituted a final judgment of conviction, triggering Leal's time for filing a direct appeal and a state habeas corpus petition. 2 AA 438.

b. The May 2019 judgment corrected a clerical error, and Leal's second state habeas petition does not challenge the error

In the May of 2019 judgment, the district court added the language that Leal pay restitution jointly and severally with his co-defendant. 1 AA 234. This amendment to the judgment of conviction did not change the amount of restitution due. *Id., see also* 1 AA 143. The addition of the language also conformed the judgment to the terms of the plea agreement, which called for a joint plea and joint and several liability for restitution. 1 AA at 83.

None of the claims in Leal's second state habeas petition challenge the amendment that inured to Leal's benefit—making restitution jointly responsible between Leal and his co-defendant. Other than the claim that Strickland prejudice did not manifest itself until the codefendant's sentence was modified (argued below), Leal presented no other argument as cause to excuse the untimely filing of his petition. Therefore, the district court correctly found that Leal failed to demonstrate cause and prejudice to excuse the application of NRS 34.726(1) and 34.810 to bar his claims. *See, Sullivan*, 120 Nev. at 541-42, 96 P.3d at 765 (all claims "arose during the proceedings leading to the original judgment of conviction and during the prosecution of the direct appeal" and therefore the amended judgment failed to provide good cause to excuse untimely filing).

c. Leal treated the August 2017 judgment as a final order

The record reflects that Leal treated the August 2017 judgment of conviction as a final order, taking a direct appeal from that order, as well as challenging the order in a state habeas petition, and in neither proceeding challenging the 2017 judgment as "not final." *See*, 1 AA 145 (Notice of Appeal); 1 AA 200 (first state habeas petition). Leal should be estopped from disavowing his prior stance that he appealed the 2017 judgment on both direct appeal and through habeas corpus proceedings.

The Nevada Supreme Court agrees. In *Witter*, the Court held that a party may not argue that a judgment was not final "when the party treated the judgment as final." 125 Nev. at 409-10, 452 P.3d at 416.

Respondents request the Court find that even if the August 2017 judgment did not constitute a final judgment, Leal is estopped from arguing that judgment is not final because he treated it as final until his second state habeas petition.

2.) Leal failed to demonstrate cause to avoid application of NRS 34.810

Leal argues that he can evade default under NRS 34.810 because the claims in the second petition "present new grounds not available at the time of the previous writ petition." OB at 41. Leal further claims that the prejudice prong for an ineffective assistance claim at sentencing only arose after the arrest of his wife, who received a lesser sentence than her husband. *Id*.

Leal is mistaken. A habeas petitioner demonstrates cause for a default when he demonstrates that something external to him prevented him from raising a claim earlier. *Crump v. Warden*, 113 Nev. 293, 302, 934 P.2d 247, 252 (1997) (*citing Passanisi v. Director*, 105 Nev. 63, 66, 769 P.2d 72, 74 (1989). Assuming (without conceding) that counsel performed deficiently at sentencing, nothing prevented Leal from raising his claim that counsel was ineffective at sentencing in his first state habeas petition (and the allegation of prejudice that he received a harsh sentence). OB at 41. Because Leal failed to raise this issue in his first petition, the claim is both untimely and successive. The district court correctly dismissed the claim.

Leal also fails to demonstrate actual prejudice. The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that "[S]entencing is an individualized process; therefore, no rule of law requires a court to sentence codefendants to identical terms." *Nobles v. Warden, Nevada Dept. of Prisons*, 106 Nev. 67, 68, 787 P.2d 390, 391 (1990) (citing to *People v. Walford*, 716 P.2d 137 (Colo. App. 1985).

Finding cause and prejudice, or in the alternative, finding merit for a claim *based solely upon subsequent events* (as Leal argues) runs afoul of the Court's visionary guidance in *Strickland* that cautions against permitting a defendant to "second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence," or for a reviewing court to conclude counsel's actions unreasonable after an unsuccessful result. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

Arguments that prejudice from counsel's actions could only be discerned after the sentencing of Leal's codefendant constitute the best evidence that Leal cannot satisfy his burden of demonstrating cause and prejudice under *Strickland* regarding counsel's performance at sentencing. Arguing prejudice in hindsight also hints at the fact that counsel's actions were reasonable at the time. *Id.* ("A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight...and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time."). If Leal can only demonstrate prejudice based upon a different result based upon a different strategy, then he fails to demonstrate constitutionally deficient conduct, as opposed to merely employing an unsuccessful strategy.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORECTLY DENIED LEAL'S ATTEMPT TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA

A. Legal Standards

1.) Counsel must perform effectively during the plea process

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must demonstrate: (1) that counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) actual prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687–88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 432–33, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the standard in *Strickland*). A reviewing court "may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either one." *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996), *citing to Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

2.) Judging counsel's conduct during plea proceedings

The entry of a guilty plea by a defendant must be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Molina v. State*, 120 Nev. 185, 191, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).

The United States Supreme Court found that the two-part test in Strickland

applies to counsel's performance during plea bargaining. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58 (1985). The Court found the deficient conduct prong remains the same. Id. at 58-59. A petitioner demonstrates prejudice by showing that "counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." *Id.* at 59. The ultimate decision to accept or reject an offer belongs to the defendant. *See, Wainwright v. Sykes*, 433 U.S. 72, 93 n.1 (1977) (Burger, C.J., concurring).

B. Leal's Claims

In one of his pro se pleadings, Leal alleged that his plea was coerced. 2 AA 268. Leal further alleged a claim of actual innocence because his victims signed purchase agreements subject to liens and encumbrances. *Id*.

Leal alleges that the district court failed to allow him to withdraw his guilty plea. OB at 44. In his brief, Leal alleges that he is not claiming coercion—rather, he alleges that he is actually innocent because his victims signed a purchase agreement that they are taking the property subject to liens.¹⁰ *Id.* at 44-46.

Leal admits he is presenting new argument on the issue that "is slightly different not focused on coercion." *Id.* at 43.

In essence Leal argues now, he is actually innocent because "he was of the belief that he fulfilled all disclosure duties and points to the contract language

¹⁰ Leal ignores the fact that despite the language in contracts executed by the parties, either the defendants or their employees represented to the victims that the properties were free and clear of liens or mortgages. *See*, 1 AA 122.

reviewed and signed by the purchasers." OB at 44.¹¹ It appears that Leal alleges counsel was ineffective during the plea process for some reason connected to this claim, but his brief does not specify why counsel was ineffective.

This Court held, "Where a defendant fails to present an argument below and the district court has not considered its merit, we will not consider it on appeal." *McKenna v. State*, 114 Nev. 1044, 1054, 968 P.2d 739, 746 (1998) (*citing Guy v. State*, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 584 (1992). This Court should decline to consider this claim, as Leal admits that it differs from the claim presented below.

C. Leal's Claim is Procedurally Defaulted

As noted above, (see, II(C), above) Leal presented this claim more than one year after the issuance of remittitur at the conclusion of Leal's direct appeal proceedings. Leal also could have presented this claim in his first state habeas petition. The claim is procedurally defaulted, and Leal presents no cause or prejudice to excuse his default.

To the extent that he alleges actual innocence to excuse his default. OB 44. However, the claim of actual innocence based upon ineffective assistance of trial counsel for coercing a guilty plea is itself procedurally defaulted. Leal could have raised this claim in a prior petition but failed to do so. The claim is also untimely.

¹¹ Leal now alleges actual innocence but admitted at sentencing that apparently "we didn't explain it correctly, I guess, what we were selling." 1 AA 124.

See, State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 235, 112 P.3d 1070, 1077 (2005) (citing Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003)).

To the extent that Leal's claim asserts a freestanding claim of actual innocence, the Nevada Supreme Court does not recognize such a claim. But even if *arguendo*, the Court considered the claim, it is belied by the record. Leal alleges that "he was of the belief that he fulfilled all disclosure duties and points to the contract language reviewed and signed by the purchasers." OB at 44. However, Leal ignores the fact that the record reflects that Leal or his co-defendant/representatives falsely represented to his victims that the titles to properties sold to the victims were not encumbered by liens or other security interests, false representations which netted the defendants approximately three quarters of a million dollars. See, 1 AA 120.

Leal fails to demonstrate good cause and prejudice to evade the application of NRS 34.726(1) and NRS 34.810. Additionally, based upon Leal's admittedly new argument, this Court need not address the claim. However, in the event the Court finds that Leal presents cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural default, this Court should remand the claim to the district court. This would give the district court the first opportunity to consider Leal's new argument and conduct an evidentiary hearing (if necessary). Then, if Leal appeals again, this Court could review the district court's record and any factual findings made by district court.

IV. LEAL RECEIVED THE ASSISTANCE OF EFFECTIVE COUNSEL DURNING SENTENCING

Leal alleges that his counsel performed deficiently at sentencing. OB at 48. Leal alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to request a continuance of Leal's sentencing. *Id*.

A. The Claim is Procedurally Defaulted

The district court found the claim procedurally defaulted pursuant to NRS 34.726(1) and NRS 34.810. 2 AA 436, 438.

B. Leal Fails to Demonstrate Cause and Prejudice to Excuse the Default

As discussed above (*see*, II(C)), Leal failed to present cause and prejudice to evade application of NRS 34.726(1) and NRS 34.810.

Because the district court never addressed the merits of the claim, should this Court find cause and prejudice to excuse Leal's procedural default of the claim, remand to the district court to address the merits and (if necessary) conduct an evidentiary hearing.

V. LEAL FAILED TO PRESENT FACTS JUSTIFYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

"If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall dismiss the petition without a hearing." NRS 34.770(2).

In Leal's case, he failed to demonstrate the necessity of an evidentiary hearing to excuse the procedural default of the claims in his petitions.

In his brief, Leal cites to a string of federal cases over 30 years old that purportedly allege that a petitioner receives an evidentiary hearing when a "petitioner raises a colorable claim of ineffective assistance." OB at 56. However, the cases do not cite the Nevada standard for evidentiary hearings. Nor do the cases address procedurally defaulted claims.¹²

A. Nevada's Standard for Evidentiary Hearings

In Nevada, the district court conducts an evidentiary hearing when a petitioner "asserts specific factual allegations that are not belied or repelled by the record and that, if true, would entitle him to relief." *Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272, 1300-01, 198 P.3d 839, 858 (2008), *citing Hargrove v. State*, 100 Nev. 498, 502-03, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

In his brief, Leal "urge[s] this court to find his claim is not procedurally barred and that an evidentiary hearing should have been held to determine why his attorney did not obtain the necessary extensions." OB at 58.

///

¹² Leal cites one case, *Morris v. California*, as 996 F.2d 448 (9th Cir. 1991). However, typing 996 F.2d 448 into Westlaw brings up a First Circuit case, *Ward v. Hickey*, a non-habeas case.

B. Leal Presents No Evidence Supporting an Evidentiary Hearing on Defaulted Claims

In his brief, Leal failed to present good cause and prejudice to excuse the procedural default of his claims. The Nevada Supreme Court concluded that procedurally defaulted claims are not entitled to an evidentiary hearing absent first excusing the application of Nevada's statutory procedural default bars. *See, McConnell v. State*, 125 Nev. 243, 258, 212 P.3d 307, 317 (2009).

Absent this Court finding that Leal demonstrated good cause and prejudice, this Court need not apply the Nevada standard for an evidentiary hearing. Second, even if this Court found that Leal demonstrated cause and prejudice to excuse his procedurally defaulted claims, Leal failed to satisfy the Nevada standard by pleading facts "not belied by the record that, if true, entitled him to relief."

The State requests the Court affirm the district court's denial of an evidentiary hearing in this matter.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and law presented herein, the State requests this Court affirm the district court's dismissal of Leal's second state habeas corpus petition. If the Court finds cause and prejudice exist to excuse Leal's procedural default of his claims, the State requests that the Court remand the matter to the ///

district court so that the district court may address the claims in the first instance and also determine if an evidentiary hearing is necessary.